PAGE  

[image: image1.jpg]) SIC PERMANET

| _rocus | 4
Ontario

VT INCEPIT

2\




ONTARIO

ENERGY

BOARD

	FILE NO.:


	EB-2007-0905


	

	VOLUME:

DATE:

BEFORE:


	2
May 23, 2008

Gordon Kaiser

Bill Rupert

Cynthia Chaplin


	Presiding Member and Vice Chair

Member

Member

	
	
	


EB-2007-0905
THE ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

IN THE MATTER OF the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, S.O.1998, c.15, (Schedule B);
AND IN THE MATTER OF an application by Ontario Power Generation Inc. pursuant to section 78.1 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998 for an Order or Orders determining payment amounts for the output of certain of its generating facilities.
Hearing held at 2300 Yonge Street,
25th Floor, Toronto, Ontario, 
on Friday, May 23, 2008, 
commencing at 9:31 a.m.
--------------------------------------
VOLUME 2
---------------------------------------



BEFORE:



GORDON KAISER

Presiding Member and Vice Chair



BILL RUPERT

Member



CYNTHIA CHAPLIN
Member

DONNA CAMPBELL
Board Counsel

RICHARD BATTISTA
Board Staff

CHRIS CINCAR

MICHAEL PENNY
Ontario Power Generation Inc.

PETER FAYE
Energy Probe Research Foundation

TOM ADAMS
ROBERT WARREN
Consumers Council of Canada

MICHAEL BUONAGURO 
Vulnerable Energy Consumers

Coalition (VECC)
1--- Upon commencing at 9:31 a.m.


1Preliminary matters


4ONTARIO POWER GENERATION - REGULATED HYDROELECTRIC


J. Frain, D.B. Gagnon, M. Mazza, M. Shea; sworn
4Examination-in-chief by Mr. Penny


8Cross-examination by Mr. Adams


16Cross-examination by Mr. Warren


39--- Recess taken at 10:34 a.m.


40--- Upon resuming at 10:55 a.m.


40Procedural matters


46Cross-examination by Mr. Buonaguro


56Cross-examination by Mr. Stephenson


63Cross-examination by Mr. Faye


69Cross-examination by Ms. Campbell


73Cross-examination by Mr. Cincar


80Questions from the Board


83--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 12:15 p.m.




46EXHIBIT NO. K2.1:  DOCUMENTS PRODUCED BY MR. BUONAGURO.




19UNDERTAKING NO. J2.1.:  To find out if the OPG business case summary was prepared before or after any direction from the Provincial Government


27UNDERTAKING NO. J2.2:  TO PROVIDE SPECIMEN OF PROJECT EXECUTION INDEX.


44UNDERTAKING NO. J2.3: TO enquire whether the risk management plan is available in template form and produce it, subject to review


52UNDERTAKING NO. J2.4:  Assess numbers in Exhibit K2.1


60UNDERTAKING NO. J2.5:  PROVIDE ANSWER AS TO WHETHER OVERTIMES COSTS FOR 2008 AND 2009 ARE BASED ON HISTORICAL AVERAGE OR FLUCTUATING NUMBER.


79UNDERTAKING NO. J2.6:  TO LIST CAPITAL EXPENDITURES (2005-2009) NOTING WHETHER THEY ARE SUBJECT TO REGULATION 53/05, 6(2)4(I)


79UNDERTAKING NO. J2.7:  TO IDENTIFY ASSETS, LIABILITIES, REVENUES, COSTS AND OTHER ITEMS SET OUT IN opg'S 2007 FINIANCIAL STATEMENTS THAT ARE REFERRED TO IN sECTION 6(2)5 AND 6(2)6 OF rEGULATION 53/05






Friday, May 23, 2008

--- Upon commencing at 9:31 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


Mr. Penny.

Preliminary matters:


MR. PENNY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  We have available this morning the hydroelectric core panel.


Just one preliminary matter before introducing those witnesses, Mr. Chairman.  There was an issue -- this wasn't assigned a number or anything yesterday, but there was a question raised by Mr. Rodger about the cost allocation -- the allocation of centrally held costs and the issue of cross-subsidization and how -- I think Mr. Rodger was posing the question of how OPG can assure the Board and the customers that there is not cross-subsidization.  


We undertook to think about where that landed, in terms of appropriate questions, and so on.  So I just wanted to address that.


I think Mr. Rodger started with questions about hydro, because, of course, all of nuclear is under regulation, whereas only part of hydro is under regulation.  To the extent that there are centrally held costs out of head office, I think the question probably applies, to some extent, to nuclear as well.


Let me say that the evidence -- by way of introduction, and then I will answer the question.  The evidence, we say, describes how the -- dealing with hydro, how the hydro costs are developed and, therefore, are allocated.  We think there is a robust process for that.  


The majority of the costs are developed out of the plant groups, so that in and of itself is an indication that there is no cross-subsidization.


There are really just three sources of allocation in hydro.  There is the -- there's some allocation from the Ottawa St. Lawrence plant group, because Saunders is part of the Ottawa St. Lawrence plant group.  There is some allocation -- these are very small, by the way.  There is some allocation from the hydro central office.  Those are also small, and then there are the allocations from the corporate head office, which are of course the ones that apply equally to hydro and to nuclear.


It is -- our view is that the evidence shows how OPG assures that the consumers -- assures the consumers there is no cross-subsidy, and that can be explored.  It is 

not -- with the relevant groups.  It is not a situation, for example, where a new owner comes in and imposes a new structure which requires the acquisition of costs from an affiliate, a new -- like a different company.  This is a pre-existing company, of course.  We're not dealing with affiliates.  


It's the same company.  It has always been same company since the outset in 1999 when it was incorporated.


So our position, just so people are clear, is that our incentives historically in organizing the business have been to achieve efficiencies and not to cross-subsidize.


So at a general level, it is our position that the obligation to comply, say, with an affiliate code-like regime is unnecessary and would create significant inefficiencies and additional and unnecessary cost.


So bringing that from the position level to where that can be addressed, I think it is appropriately addressed in three areas.  To the extent that there are questions about hydro specifically, this is the best panel to address those questions to, because they're dealing with the hydro OM&A costs.  And Mr. Mazza, in particular, will be in a position to explain how the business plans are developed, and so on, and how centrally held costs in the hydro group are allocated.


With respect to the head office costs and the allocations to hydro and nuclear, there is a separate panel to deal with that.  That's the corporate; what we've been calling the corporate panel.  Then to the extent that it engages issues of regulatory policy as opposed to just how OPG does it, as I said the other day, Mr. Barrett will be testifying later and we're putting issues of regulatory policy to Mr. Barrett, so that would be best addressed when he is on the payments amount panel.


I should have said, by the way, that those three areas of allocation that I described have all been reviewed by Rudden, as is described in the evidence.  So that is the explanation of where we deal with that.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.


MR. PENNY:  So with that, let me introduce the witnesses, but perhaps they could come forward and be sworn.

ONTARIO POWER GENERATION - REGULATED HYDROELECTRIC


Joan Frain, Sworn


Don B. Gagnon, Sworn


Mario Mazza, Sworn


Mark Shea, Sworn

Examination-in-chief by Mr. Penny:


MR. PENNY:  Let me start with you, Ms. Frain.


You are the manager of water policy and planning for the water resources division of OPG?


MS. FRAIN:  Correct.


MR. PENNY:  I understand that you have a bachelor of applied science in civil engineering from the University of Waterloo?


MS. FRAIN:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  You have been employed by OPG since 1982?


MS. FRAIN:  Correct.


MR. PENNY:  As I see your resume, it is almost exclusively in the water resources area?


MS. FRAIN:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  You are responsible in your current position as manager of water policy and planning for, among other things, OPG's participation in water control boards and committees?


MS. FRAIN:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  And you are responsible for the hydroelectric energy and capacity forecast?


MS. FRAIN:  Correct.


MR. PENNY:  And you are also involved in the negotiation of water and land agreements with governments, other generators and other stakeholders?


MS. FRAIN:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  Thank you.


Then I will start at the right side, then, with you, Mr. Shea.


You, I understand, are a graduate of McGill University with a bachelor of engineering?


MR. SHEA:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  Thank you.  Sorry, your current position is the manager of asset and technical services for the Ottawa St. Lawrence plant group?


MR. SHEA:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  Among other things, you have responsibility for the preparation of the plant group business plan?


MR. SHEA:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  And responsibility for the management of the plant group assets?


MR. SHEA:  Correct.


MR. PENNY:  You have been employed, as well, from 1982 by OPG, I understand?


MR. SHEA:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  And you have held a variety of positions with both the Lennox generating station, Nanticoke generating station and the Ottawa St. Lawrence plant group?


MR. SHEA:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  You're a member of the Professional Engineers of Ontario?


MR. SHEA:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  Ms. Frain, I understand you are also a member of the Professional Engineers of Ontario?


MS. FRAIN:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  Mr. Mazza, you're the director of business support and regulatory affairs for the hydro business unit?


MR. MAZZA:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  I understand that you have a bachelor of applied science in civil engineering from the University of Toronto?


MR. MAZZA:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  You have been employed by OPG since 1979?


MR. MAZZA:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  And your current position as director of business support and regulatory affairs involves the preparation of the responsibility for the preparation of the hydro business plan and annual budget?


MR. MAZZA:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  And you are also involved in benchmarking of the hydro group's performance?


MR. MAZZA:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  And, as well, for performance reporting in IT infrastructure support for the Niagara -- for the Niagara group?


MR. MAZZA:  For the hydro business, yes.


MR. PENNY:  For the hydro business, yes.  Thank you.  You are also a member of the Professional Engineers of Ontario?


MR. MAZZA:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  And, Mr. Gagnon, turning then to you, you are also a graduate with a bachelor of applied science in electrical engineering?


MR. GAGNON:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  And you got that from Queen's in 1990?


MR. GAGNON:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  You have been employed by OPG since 1990, I understand?


MR. GAGNON:  Correct.


MR. PENNY:  And you have held a variety of positions with the Niagara plant group?


MR. GAGNON:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  Currently, your position is the system support manager for the Niagara plant group?


MR. GAGNON:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  Among other things, you are responsible for the Niagara records and document management?


MR. GAGNON:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  And protection and control engineering and services?


MR. GAGNON:  Correct.


MR. PENNY:  You are also a member of the Professional Engineers of Ontario?


MR. GAGNON:  Yes, I am.


MR. PENNY:  Panel, can you confirm, please, that the evidence relating to the hydro core costs and revenues was prepared by you or under your supervision?


MR. MAZZA:  I can confirm that.


MR. GAGNON:  Yes.


MS. FRAIN:  Yes.


MR. SHEA:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  As well, the interrogatories that relate to those topics were also prepared by you or under your supervision?

MR. SHEA:  Yes.

MS. FRAIN:  Yes.

MR. MAZZA:  Yes.

MR. GAGNON:  Yes.

MR. PENNY:  Do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of this hearing?

MR. GAGNON:  Yes.

MR. MAZZA:  Yes.

MS. FRAIN:  Yes.

MR. SHEA:  Yes.

MR. PENNY:  All right.  Thank you.
Mr. Chairman, I have no other examination-in-chief for this panel, so they're available for cross-examination.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

Mr. Adams.
Cross-examination by Mr. Adams:


MR. ADAMS:  Thank you, panel.  I just have a few brief questions in three areas related to capital condition of the facilities, the operating cost trends and production forecasting.

With regard to capital condition, there is a note in your prefiled evidence to the effect that when there are water transactions taking place between New York Power Authority and OPG, almost all of those transactions are from OPG to New York Power Authority, rather than the other way around.  Do I understand that correctly?

MS. FRAIN:  That is correct.

MR. ADAMS:  And some of these are economic transactions?

MS. FRAIN:  Yes, they are.

MR. ADAMS:  And others relate to surplus water.  That would be where OPG doesn't have capacity to convert it?

MS. FRAIN:  That is also considered an economic transaction.

MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  Now, do I understand correctly that the New York facilities have some efficiency advantage, relative to the facilities on the Ontario side?

MS. FRAIN:  At Niagara there's a slight increase.  At the St. Lawrence, they are very close.

MR. ADAMS:  All right.  So if you had the option of sending it one way or another at Niagara, the efficiency advantage of the US units would provide some potential marginal benefit.  Do you have a sense for how much that benefit is?

MS. FRAIN:  Where the water is spilled, it's substantial, or would be spilled.  Where it is a unit economy transfer, we would be limited now to a couple of megawatts per CMS.  At that point, NYPA may not choose to take them.

MR. ADAMS:  Right, because of transactional difficulties or --

MS. FRAIN:  It would impact on their operating plans.

MR. ADAMS:  Now, do I understand that this differential in inefficiency, primarily driven by relative unit age and modernity of plant, their side having an advantage of being more up-to-date, somewhat, than ours?

MS. FRAIN:  That's not correct.  It's more geographical location.  There is a shorter distance for the water to travel to their units.  Both companies have upgraded units recently and have similar, much closer efficiencies.

MR. ADAMS:  All right, okay.

Your evidence was indicating that as the Niagara third tunnel is brought into service, that the necessity or the advantage of these water transfers is going to diminish?  You're going to have less transactions?

MS. FRAIN:  That's correct.

MR. ADAMS:  But do you foresee there will ever be eliminated, or this is something that is present in your business planning for the foreseeable future?

MS. FRAIN:  Depending on the flow in the river, there may not be any transactions.  It is always an opportunity, still, for the other categories that are there, as well as the economy, maintenance and ice.

MR. ADAMS:  Right.  At Saunders, I understand that New York Power Authority has been in the process over the last many years of rebuilding their units; a lot of refurbishment gone on there?

MS. FRAIN:  Correct.

MR. ADAMS:  But not on the Ontario side?  We have not undertaken the refurbishment project on the scale that they have on -- FDR has been refurbishing more than the Saunders site.  Is that fair?

MR. SHEA:  No, that is not correct.  The Saunders units were upgraded in the late '90s and early 2000s.  So our program for upgrading the units is already complete.

MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  So you are ahead of them?

MR. SHEA:  Correct.

MR. ADAMS:  Right.  One difference in the condition of the plants, do I understand on the Ontario side we have a problem with AAR, alkaline aggregate reaction?  Whereas on the US side, they don't?

MR. SHEA:  That is correct.

MR. ADAMS:  Was that a factor that drove your refurbishment program?

MR. SHEA:  No.

MR. ADAMS:  Was this a technical upgrade?

MR. SHEA:  It was an upgrade to improve efficiencies.

MR. ADAMS:  All right.  So how come they don't have the problem with the concrete that we have?

MR. SHEA:  Where they got the aggregate for the concrete was a different pit.

MR. ADAMS:  So different chemistry?

MR. SHEA:  Correct.

MR. ADAMS:  Unlucky for us.

MR. SHEA:  Yes.

MR. ADAMS:  So does the US side have equivalent rights to water on the St. Lawrence facility FDR site, equivalent to Saunders?  Or do we get an advantage from an Ogoki diversion or other factors?

MS. FRAIN:  At the St. Lawrence it is equally shared.

MR. ADAMS:  Equal.  So the productivity of the units should be pretty similar, in terms of -- their access to water is very similar?

MS. FRAIN:  Yes.

MR. ADAMS:  Whereas at Niagara, we gain the advantage of Ogoki diversion but they don't; is that --

MS. FRAIN:  Correct.

MR. ADAMS:  So all else equal, we would expect to have higher production with the Niagara plant group than they have on the equivalent -– on their side?

MS. FRAIN:  All else equal, yes.

MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  The one area of O&M I wanted to explore with you arises from F1, tab 3, schedule 1.

This relates to the project O&M?

MR. SHEA:  Yes, it does.

MR. ADAMS:  Of all of the categories of your O&M, this appears to be the one that is experiencing the most inflation.  I guess the evidence on this correspondence is a little bit thin.

Given that these are mature facilities, it isn't clear to me why there is an almost doubling of the project O&M over this period.

MR. GAGNON:  Which period?

MR. ADAMS:  Well, from 2005 to 2009, the increase is a little bit short of doubling.

So I was just looking for an explanation as to why this particular category of your O&M is experiencing so much inflation.

MR. GAGNON:  Well, from 2005 to 2008 there have been some increases, and we have noticed through our projects in the construction costs, they have been going up quite a bit.

MR. ADAMS:  So this is attributable to general inflation only?

MR. GAGNON:  Well, there's general inflation and it's also the nature of the projects.

We are moving into some, at least at Niagara, some civil issues and the dollar amounts to fix the powerhouse structure are very expensive.  So they are contributing to the additional costs.

MR. ADAMS:  Do you have a breakout for how much of this is attributable to general construction inflation versus the different scale and scope of the projects?


MR. GAGNON:  No, I don't.


MR. ADAMS:  Do you track your -- you benchmark your construction inflation against general construction market inflation; right?  How does that compare?


MR. MAZZA:  On a hydro level basis, we have done some tracking lately.  Our costs appear to be going up relatively similar to what's out there in the power sector.  Over the last three to four years, they have gone up in several areas by about 40 percent, especially in the equipment -- on the equipment side.


Same with civil-type rehab projects, so the costs are increasing related to the general trend in the industry.


MR. ADAMS:  You buy enough -- you are a big enough consumer of construction services -- goods and services that it occurs to me that your statistics are probably fairly reliable indicators of trends in construction costs.


Can you describe how you do your benchmarking for construction cost inflation?


MR. MAZZA:  Well, we haven't done specific benchmarking on construction cost inflation.  We haven't done specifics.  We have just been looking -- I can refer you to the evidence.


We have a graph in our business plan that just basically shows construction costs.  If I could refer you to -- it's an interrogatory, actually, L4-2.


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.


MR. MAZZA:  Page 20 of that interrogatory.  Basically, there's a slide there just showing general trends in the industry.  This is what is happening in the industry, as I said, since -- you can see the trend since about 2003.  Steel prices, cement prices, equipment prices have been going up substantially.


MR. ADAMS:  Hmm-hmm.


MR. MAZZA:  We have been tracking it that way and we're experiencing some of this, you know, in the field, similar trends.  I'm not saying it's the same percentage, but it's significant.


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  Okay.


The last thing I wanted to get from you -- you made a comment in your evidence, speaking to your production forecast, making a comment that you say your production forecast is unbiased.


It's AMPCO interrogatory 24.


MS. FRAIN:  I have that.


MR. ADAMS:  I wonder if you could just help me understand how you test for bias in your production forecasts.  Is that normal distribution of forecast error?


MS. FRAIN:  We don't do statistical analysis on the forecast.  The end year forecast is based on the water forecasts.  That flow forecast is developed through agencies that are wholly dedicated to this type of work, and, based on their input, we feel that it is unbiased.


MR. ADAMS:  But it's not -- you don't statistically test the forecast versus actual?  When you are making the claim that it is unbiased, is that based on the statistical -- is that a statistical assertion or is this based on some other valuation?


MS. FRAIN:  It is not based on a statistical analysis.  It's based on our review of the numbers, after the fact, and the inputs that go into them.


MR. ADAMS:  You are reviewing the numbers in a non-statistical fashion?  I don't quite understand.


MS. FRAIN:  Well, there's not strict statistical analysis applied.  There would be a review of how they match the forecast to the actual, but no statistical analysis for bounds or anything like that.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay, I am struggling here.  Anyway, you have contented yourself that you are not suffering from a biased forecast.  There is an equal risk on the over-forecast side or the under-forecast side?


MS. FRAIN:  Correct.


MR. ADAMS:  Right.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Warren.

Cross-examination by Mr. Warren:


MR. WARREN:  Panel, my name is Robert Warren and I act for the Consumers Council of Canada.  To assist you, I am going to be asking questions that will relate to three pieces of evidence, so perhaps you could turn those up.


The first is Exhibit D1, tab 1, schedule 1; and D1, tab 1, schedule 2.


And I may finally make some reference to one interrogatory response.  It's an interrogatory filed by my friend, Mr. DeVellis's client.  It is SEC Interrogatory No. 4, and, for the record, it is Exhibit L, tab 14, schedule 94.


MR. SHEA:  Exhibit L?


MR. WARREN:  Tab 14, schedule 94.


MR. SHEA:  Okay.


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Shea, I don't think you need to worry about it right at the moment, but I will give you a second when you get to it.


Panel, I would like to begin just understanding, if I can, from the regulated hydroelectric sector, the numbers that we're dealing with in this particular case.


Perhaps you could turn up Exhibit D1, tab 1, schedule 1.  And on the first page, you are seeking, I take it, in terms of capital expenditures on the hydro side, the -- there's a total of $517 million to be spent in 2008 and 2009, in the tunnel project; is that right?


MR. MAZZA:  Yes.  Subject to check, those are the numbers.


MR. WARREN:  And the balance of the regulated hydroelectric capital budget for 2008/2009 is $87 million; is that right?


MR. MAZZA:  Yes, it is.


MR. WARREN:  And of that $87 million, some $63 million will be spent on a variety of rehabilitation projects at the Sir Adam Beck generating stations; is that right?


MR. GAGNON:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, thank you for that.


Now, I would like to -- and in this context it would help me if you could turn up Exhibit D1, tab 1, schedule 2, and, in particular, attachment A.  Attachment A is the business case summary of the Niagara tunnel project.


My questions in connection with this are directionally -- I am trying to get a sense of business planning and the relationship of the function of the business units, in this case hydroelectric, to the corporate planning folks who were here yesterday.


Looking at the business case summary for the Niagara tunnel project, which is the attachment, by whom was this document prepared?


MR. MAZZA:  This document was prepared, actually, in 2005.  The structure of the organization was different at the time and there was a corporate development group that prepared the business case.  This predated the creation of the hydro business in 2006.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Would you, Mr. Mazza, be familiar with the background to the development of the -- were you involved in the development of this particular business case summary?


MR. MAZZA:  No, I was not directly involved in it.


MR. WARREN:  You may then not be able to answer these questions, which is fine.

Do you know if this business case summary was prepared before or after there was a direction from the Ontario Government to do the tunnel project?  Do you know that?

MR. MAZZA:  No, I do not exactly.

MR. WARREN:  Could I get from you an undertaking to find out the answer to that question?

MR. PENNY:  Yes.  The question is:  Was the business case summary prepared before or after any direction from the provincial government?  

MR. WARREN:  Yes, that's right.

MR. PENNY:  Yes.  We can undertake to find that out.

MR. BATTISTA:  And that will be characterized as undertaking J 2.1.  
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.1.:  To find out if the OPG business case summary was prepared before or after any direction from the Provincial Government


MR. WARREN:  Now, then, going along a little further in the attachments, we get to -- and it's not paginated -- but attachment B is titled "Ontario Power Generation project summary".  This has the name "R. H. Saunders Generating Station, replace heating/ventilating/air conditioning system."

By whom was this project summary prepared?

MR. SHEA:  That was prepared by one of my staff.

MR. WARREN:  There follows attachment B, and I don't really think you need to turn them up, but there follow a number of project summaries -- most of them, if I recollect, related to Sir Adam Beck -- but can I understand at a high level of generality, panel, that these project summaries would be prepared by the business units?  When I say "business units" it would be either Niagara or Ottawa/St. Lawrence.  Is that correct?

MR. MAZZA:  That is true.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And in terms of what is prepared, you have a project summary here.  Is there a business case summary that's prepared in connection with each of these project summaries?

MR. GAGNON:  There would be.

MR. WARREN:  And would the business case summary be at the level of detail that attachment A is for the tunnel project, at that level of detail?

MR. GAGNON:  If you go to attachment F?

MR. WARREN:  Right.

MR. GAGNON:  You will see the business case for unit 7 at Sir Adam Beck number 1.

MR. WARREN:  Right.

MR. GAGNON:  This is typically for these projects, what would follow the project summaries.

MR. WARREN:  So that for each of these project summaries, typically we would find something that looks like attachment F; is that right?

MR. GAGNON:  Eventually.

MR. WARREN:  Eventually.  When you say eventually, would these business case summaries be developed locally, that is with the business unit?

MR. GAGNON:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  In the first instance; is that correct?

MR. GAGNON:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Now, as I understand it, when the aggregate of the capital costs exceeds a certain amount, there has to be approval up the food chain in the corporate division.  Is that fair?

MR. GAGNON:  Correct.

MR. WARREN:  And when it goes up to -- for each of the attachments here, they would have at some point gone up to the corporate level for approval; is that right?

MR. MAZZA:  Well, these are planning BCSs, so they're done during the business plan production, which typically happens between May and September.  So the planning BCS is a requirement of the business planning process.  Following that, the detailed BCSs will be prepared in the particular year that the project will go ahead.

MR. WARREN:  I am not so much interested in the chronology of these things as who actually does them.

So I am trying to understand whether the detailed business case summary is prepared at the local level, then sent up to the corporate level for review and approval.  Is that the case?

MR. MAZZA:  It depends on the threshold.  Up to 
$4 million, the business cases are prepared at the local level, and they're reviewed by the hydro controllership function.  Up to the $10 million threshold, they go through my department and the hydro controller also, and they're reviewed at that level.

MR. WARREN:  What is the distinction between your department and the local department?

MR. MAZZA:  I basically support the executive vice president of hydro, and I provide the functions mentioned in my resume which are related to business planning, budgeting, reporting.  I track operational statistics.

MR. WARREN:  My impression, Mr. Mazza -- and correct me if I'm wrong in working through this -- is that your responsibility is principally for hydroelectric generation in Niagara.  Is that wrong?  Or are you overall hydroelectric?

MR. MAZZA:  No.  This is for overall hydroelectric.


MR. WARREN:  Would you then not be attached in terms of allocation of responsibility, you are not attached to Niagara or R. H. Saunders.  You're in the corporate division; is that right?

MR. MAZZA:  No, I am in the hydro organization.

MR. WARREN:  You're in the hydro organization?

MR. MAZZA:  Which has an executive vice president who reports to a chief operating officer in the company.

MR. WARREN:  When you say who reports to a chief operating officer, that is at the corporate level; is that right?

MR. MAZZA:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  May I then understand it this way -- and please correct me if I'm wrong -– is that there are really three levels, depending on the size of the project involved.  The one level is a purely local level, in other words Saunders, Ottawa, Niagara, whatever it happens to be; is that right?

MR. MAZZA:  True.

MR. WARREN:  And their approval, if it is below 
$4 million, doesn't need to go to anybody else; is that right?

MR. MAZZA:  It doesn't get reviewed by my level.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.

MR. MAZZA:  But it is reviewed by the controller, local controller.

MR. WARREN:  By the local controller.

Now, the second level is the hydroelectric level.  If projects are over $10 million, that's when your group becomes involved at the hydroelectric level; is that right?

MR. MAZZA:  Actually, projects over $4 million.

MR. WARREN:  Over $4 million.

MR. MAZZA:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Sorry.  Then when does the ultimate corporate level at OPG become involved in reviewing the business case summaries for these projects?

MR. MAZZA:  The corporate level gets involved actually for most projects over 4 million.  It really depends on the nature of the project, whether it's sustaining or value enhancing.  There is a group that works with us in reviewing the business case.  As Mr. Long mentioned yesterday, he has a counterpart that is in charge of investment planning.

So they review a lot of the business cases, mostly over the $8 million threshold.

MR. WARREN:  Now, that's at the initial stage where approval is given to go ahead with a project; is that correct?  Those approvals, the business case summary is prepared in anticipation of approval of a project to go; is that right?

MR. MAZZA:  True.

MR. WARREN:  Now, after the project has received the approval, the tracking that is done of that is done at what level?  Is it done at the local level?  When I say "tracking", for example, if you forecast costs, capital costs of $11 million and a timeline of three years for the project completion, and you forecast OM&A costs of whatever they happen to be, who is tracking that?  Is that at the local level, at the hydroelectric level, or at the corporate level?

MR. MAZZA:  The tracking, the main tracking is done at the local level.  There is oversight on my part for the executive vice president, to review projects also.  We have quarterly reviews with the plant groups and we do track it that way.

MR. WARREN:  Those quarterly reviews are done for every project regardless of its size?

MR. MAZZA:  No.  We have an overall quarterly review on a key set of projects.  We have identified in our plans some key major projects that we review on a more specific basis.

MR. WARREN:  What are the criteria for identifying the key projects that are subject to that review?

MR. MAZZA:  The general criteria are projects that are, we use the criteria of about over $1 million.  And we make it part of a project execution index that every plant group has to follow as part of their plan.

MR. WARREN:  Sorry, I apologize.  You have introduced a new term.  Project something?

MR. MAZZA:  We have --

MR. WARREN:  What's it called?

MR. MAZZA:  We have a list of projects that each plant group tracks for us in more detail.  And generally those -- there is a listing that is created for each plant group and when we go out for the quarterly reviews, we do a review of those projects, specifically.

MR. WARREN:  As I understood what you have said, your criteria for this select group is $1 million.  There can't be very many capital projects in OPG that are under a $1 million, other than perhaps fixing the windows or something.  I don't mean to be facetious, but OPG deals in big numbers, big projects.  Is that fair?

So what I am getting at, Mr. Mazza, is these quarterly reviews, is it for every project in the system over 
$1 million?

MR. MAZZA:  No, it's not for every project in the system.

MR. WARREN:  Then I get back to:  What are the criteria for identifying the key projects subject to this quarterly review?  If it's not money, what is it?

MR. MAZZA:  Well, there are other factors, as I mentioned, the project execution index.  We monitor ones that have a schedule that goes into future periods.  So we track the schedule as part of this index.

We also track the deliverables associated with each project.  So we look at all of the -- we track the whole life cycle -- life cycle of a project from definition phase to completion.


So these projects, as I said, form part of an annual review that is done at my level.


MR. WARREN:  Now, if a project goes off the track, in the sense that the capital forecast expenditure is up more or less, OM&A is more or less or timeline is different, what happens then?


I'm sorry, let me be more particular.  If you do the quarterly review and you see that you're off your forecast in one of those three categories, what's the process that is followed, in terms of review of that project and approval of the changes?


MR. MAZZA:  Well, there are criteria for making changes.  We basically have some criteria that are set at the corporate level, and really it's got to do with whether there's a scope change in a project, whether the project exceeds a certain amount above the approved value.  Typically, I believe it is around 10 percent.


So we would look at that, because there is -- there are some requirements to go back to the approval authority, basically in the OAR, to get -- to either get approval to spend the additional money or take other actions, as necessary.


MR. WARREN:  Sorry.  The initials OAR refer to what?


MR. MAZZA:  The corporate OAR that was referred to yesterday.


MR. WARREN:  So if it's 10 percent variation up in any of those categories, a 10 percent variation in capital costs, OM&A or a 10 percent change in timeline, then that has to be reviewed, and that constitutes a scope change, does it, and then it has to be approved through this organizational chart that we talked about?


MR. MAZZA:  It has to be approved by the level of authority that originally approved the project.


MR. WARREN:  What happens if it is 10 percent less or more than 10 percent less?


MR. MAZZA:  We typically don't have to go back to the approval authority for those.


MR. WARREN:  So typically are there cases where you would have to go back to the approval authority if it is 10 percent less or more than 10 percent less?


MR. MAZZA:  I can't recollect any cases but...


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Just, finally, is there an example somewhere in the evidence of this project execution index?


MR. MAZZA:  No, there isn't.  It actually forms parts of the annual incentive plan for each plant group manager that manages a plant group.


MR. WARREN:  Can I ask for an undertaking to give me a specimen of a project execution index so I can see what it looks like?


MR. PENNY:  Yes, we will find the format or an example.


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be characterized as Undertaking J2.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.2:  TO PROVIDE SPECIMEN OF PROJECT EXECUTION INDEX.


MR. PENNY:  So that's to give an example of the project execution index.


MR. WARREN:  Could I ask you to turn up, panel, Exhibit D1, tab 1, schedule 1?


MS. CAMPBELL:  Mr. Warren, could you repeat that reference, please?  I didn't catch it.


MR. WARREN:  Sorry, Exhibit D1, tab 1, schedule 1.  I am looking and asking you to look at page 9 of that exhibit.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.


MR. WARREN:  On Page 9, beginning at line 21, panel, there's a -- the following appears:

"Ongoing oversight is also performed by the asset management and finance departments through monthly cost review meetings."


Now, first of all, when you refer to the asset management and finance departments, is that -- at what level is that entity or those entities?


MR. MAZZA:  It's at the plant group level.  It would be at Mark's level.


MR. WARREN:  And there are, you say, monthly cost review meetings.  That's for every project that each plant is undertaking?


MR. SHEA:  That's correct.  So we would review every project that is active, at that moment in time, monthly.


MR. WARREN:  And every plant in the hydroelectric system -- sorry, every local group in the project in the hydroelectric system does those monthly cost review meetings; is that correct?


MR. GAGNON:  They're done at Niagara, as well.


MR. WARREN:  At Niagara, as well.  What is the outcome of those meetings?  Is there a report produced with each of those meetings?


MR. SHEA:  I can speak to the Ottawa St. Lawrence plant group, but the outcome is we have minutes of those meetings that encompass the actions coming out of them.  We have a spreadsheet that speaks to basically scope, schedule and cost for every particular project.  And that is the tangible outcome from those meetings.


MR. WARREN:  Now, is it at that point, Mr. Shea, that you would identify whether there's going to be a 10 percent variation up or down in one of categories of capital or cost or timing?


MR. SHEA:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  If there's a 10 percent variation, what do you do?  Do you report it up to somebody at Mr. Mazza's level, or does it go up to the corporate level?  What happens after those monthly meetings?


MR. SHEA:  I'm sorry, if you could rephrase your question?  Greater than 10 percent or less than 10 percent?


MR. WARREN:  Greater than 10 percent.  As I understand it, anything less than 10 percent is not a material change and doesn't warrant particular attention.  Have I got that correctly?


MR. SHEA:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Let's assume it is over 10 percent.


MR. SHEA:  Those -- for larger projects, larger being greater than a million dollars, they would be reported up through to Mr. Mazza's department.


MR. WARREN:  Then, Mr. Mazza, what does your department do with those?


MR. MAZZA:  Well, there is also an action -- there would also be an action for -- to develop the proper superseding release to justify the increase.


MR. WARREN:  The superseding release, that would be -- you would report approval to increase your spending by 11 percent or 12 percent or whatever?


MR. MAZZA:  It is really taking the business case summary that we have and updating it with the information that has come about, explaining the increases and rationale for the increases.


MR. WARREN:  Are the business case summaries only updated in circumstances where you've got your 10 percent or more excedence?


MR. SHEA:  I can speak to that.  The business cases would be updated in the form of a superseding business case or superseding release, as Mr. Mazza remarked.


They could be substantial changes in scope that would precipitate a superseding release, as well as substantial changes in schedule could precipitate a superseding release.


MR. WARREN:  And the superseding release is approved, Mr. Mazza, at your level or the corporate level, or both?


MR. MAZZA:  It depends on the dollar threshold of the project.


MR. WARREN:  Over $4 million, approved at your level?


MR. MAZZA:  It would come to the VP level.


MR. WARREN:  Could I then turn specifically to the Niagara tunnel project?


We have got as an attachment to Exhibit D1, tab 1, schedule 2 the business case summary for that project.  You have told me that none of you are involved in that, but do I take it, either Mr. Gagnon or Mr. Mazza, that you are, albeit at different levels, now actively involved in the Niagara tunnel project; is that correct?


MR. MAZZA:  I am involved at my level, at the very high level.  There is a department, as we mentioned in the evidence, that reports to my boss, the executive vice president of hydro.  There is the hydroelectric developments group that is in charge of all of the new development projects.


They are responsible for monitoring -- for developing business cases, monitoring and executing the projects.


MR. WARREN:  I want to know, Mr. Mazza, who is now primarily responsible for the Niagara tunnel project.  Is it you or someone in your group, or is it this other entity, this other group you have talked about?


MR. MAZZA:  It is directly -- it would be the vice president of hydroelectric development.


MR. WARREN:  That person is who?


MR. MAZZA:  He reports to the executive vice president of hydro.


MR. WARREN:  But what is his name?


MR. MAZZA:  Oh, Carlo Crozzoli.


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Penny, is Mr. Crozzoli going to testify here?


MR. PENNY:  No, he is not, Mr. Warren.


MR. WARREN:  Then we will see how far we can get with this.  The business case summary that we have as an attachment, can you tell me, panel, whether that has been revised or updated in any way, from what we see as an attachment?


MR. MAZZA:  No, it has not been revised.


MR. WARREN:  Now, if you turn up D1, tab 1, schedule 1.  D1, tab 1, schedule 1, looking at page -- sorry, line 9.  Page 3, line 9.

MR. PENNY:  Which page?

MR. WARREN:  Page 3, sorry.

MR. PENNY:  Page 3.

MR. WARREN:  First of all, by way of background, when I look at line 7 there, I see that the 2007 actual capital expenditure was 84.3 as opposed to 229.4.

Then it says:

"As previously discussed, the Niagara tunnel project was $144.6 million under budget in 2007 due to slower than expected progress.  Considerable uncertainty remains with respect to the schedule until the tunnel boring machine advances sufficiently beyond St. David's Gorge at approximately the 2.3 kilometre mark and establishes consistent tunnelling performance."


Now, can we agree, panel, that a difference of -- I am going to round-up -- $145 million in forecast spending in one year is a material difference?

MR. MAZZA:  It is a material difference.

MR. WARREN:  And if there is a material difference, and that material difference -- and the delay, I take it, has significant implications for both budget and timeline for the tunnel project.  Is that fair?

MR. MAZZA:  It does have implications for the schedule.

MR. WARREN:  And it also, I take it, Mr. Mazza, has implications for costs, because delay may lead to increases in costs.  Is that fair?

MR. MAZZA:  As we have stated in the interrogatories in the evidence, OPG believes that the cost, OPG's cost will still be within the approved business case that we have in the evidence.

MR. WARREN:  But the fact of the delay and the underspending in 2007, those are not sufficient to warrant a change in the business case for the Niagara tunnel project?

MR. MAZZA:  At this stage, we don't have enough information from the contractor, as to -- we know there is a scheduled delay, as stated in the evidence, we just do not know how long that scheduled delay will be.

That will be determined after, as stated in the evidence, after we get beyond the St. David's Gorge.  So we are working with the contractor to determine that schedule later.

MR. WARREN:  Do you have an estimate of when you will know with any precision what the schedule will be?

MR. MAZZA:  I do not have a definitive time at this stage, other than what is stated in the evidence, that we're hoping by the end of June, sometime this year.

MR. WARREN:  Is it possible, sir, that the forecast spending on the Niagara tunnel project -- the estimate is $517 million to be spent in 2008-2009 -- is it possible, depending on what the contractor reports, that there will be a significant delay in the requirement for spending those amounts in 2008 and 2009?

MR. MAZZA:  It is possible for 2008.  I can't comment on 2009 yet.

MR. WARREN:  As I understood the evidence -- and I apologize, I can't remember where I read it -- there's a possibility that there may have to reroute the tunnel because of the difficulties that the tunnel boring machine is running into with the conditions it's encountering underground.

MR. MAZZA:  Yes, the contractor is looking at realignment alternatives.

MR. WARREN:  Those realignment alternatives, I take it -- heaven forbid, I'm not an engineer.  I'm not much of a lawyer; I'm certainly not an engineer.  I take it that we simply don't know now whether or not that $517 million is going to be spent in 2008-2009.  It could be materially less than that.  Is that fair?

MR. MAZZA:  It could be.  I would just like to make a comment that these cash flows that we report in the evidence do not enter into the rate base for the regulated assets.

MR. WARREN:  No.  I understand that.  I am really looking at the question of planning, and the accuracy of planning and the reliability of planning.

You have given me your answers with respect to the tunnel boring project.  Now, the capital is what I am talking about, have been talking about.  I take it if there are delays, there will also be reductions in the OM&A expenditures on the tunnel boring project.  Is that fair?

MR. MAZZA:  There are no OM&A implications on that project.  It's a capital project, funded -- all of the people that work on that project are capital.

MR. WARREN:  Now could I ask you to turn up, in the attachment to Exhibit D1, tab 1, schedule 2, the business case summary.  I am going to go to the appendix to it.

MR. PENNY:  Which attachment, Mr. Warren?

MR. WARREN:  Sorry, attachment A, Mr. Penny, to Exhibit D1, tab 1, schedule 2.  It's the business case summary for the tunnel project.  There are attached to that attachment a couple of appendices, one of which is appendix C, which is the project risk profile.

Do you see that, panel?

MR. MAZZA:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Now, if you could turn to -- you will see at the bottom of appendix C, there is a pagination, page 1 of 7, and following.

If you turn to page 2 of 7, I see, in the last box at the bottom of page 2 of 7, you've got a description of the risk, which is:

"The inadequacy of the TBM, which is the tunnel boring machine, and support systems to achieve required excavation and reliable productivity."

And then under "description of the consequence":

"Poor performance of the TBM including frequent breakdown could delay the completion date and increase the project cost."

Do you see there, it has "risk before mitigation: medium".  I take it that in light of actual experience, we might put that at high rather than medium.  Is that fair?

MR. MAZZA:  I wasn't involved in the development of that risk, so I can't comment on that.

MR. WARREN:  My question -– and I apologize for being facetious, panel -- my question is:  Is this appendix C, this project risk profile, is it amended to reflect actual experiences?

MR. MAZZA:  No.  This appendix is not amended as part of the business case.

The project is tracking the risks.  They do track the risks.

MR. WARREN:  Now, in that context, if you could go back to the body of the attachment itself, attachment A, and look at page 9 under the heading "risks".

If you look at the second bullet item, you see reference to:

"A risk register and associated risk management plan will be maintained throughout the project execution to manage residual risks."

Are the risk register and associated risk management plan, are they the same as appendix C, the project risk profile?

MR. MAZZA:  I have not seen the updated risk register, but from what I understand, they would have the similar risks as were originally identified in the business case.

MR. WARREN:  The difference, I take it, would be that they would -- the risk register would be updated to reflect the actual experiences on the project; is that right?

MR. MAZZA:  All I can comment on, I know that the risk register is updated.

MR. WARREN:  And what is the relationship between the risk register and the risk management plan?  Are they separate documents?

MR. MAZZA:  I don't know that.

MR. WARREN:  Finally, Mr. Mazza, can you tell me who prepares the risk register and risk management plan?

MR. MAZZA:  The risk register is prepared by the project director for the Niagara tunnel project, with the assistance of a risk services group within the corporation.

MR. WARREN:  And the risk management plan?

MR. MAZZA:  Would be by the project director.

MR. WARREN:  What happens to those documents?  They're updated periodically, and they go where?

MR. MAZZA:  I don't know how high they go up.

MR. WARREN:  Would they ever get to your desk?

MR. MAZZA:  No.

MR. WARREN:  But the risk register and the risk management plan might signal risks that would affect project timeline, capital costs, OM&A costs.  Is that fair?

MR. MAZZA:  Fair.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  That being the case, why would they not, then, get to your desk? 

MR. MAZZA:  Because I am not directly involved in that project.  As I said, I am involved at a high level tracking capital costs for the business.


MR. WARREN:  It's Mr. Crozzoli who would get those documents; is that right?


MR. MAZZA:  Mr. Crozzoli, yes.


MR. WARREN:  Now, if the risk register or the associated risk management plan showed, for example, a forecast excedence of capital costs for this tunnel project of 10 percent, would it then get to your desk?


MR. MAZZA:  I see the progress of the tunnel costs on a monthly basis.


MR. WARREN:  I wonder if I could get from you an undertaking, Mr. Mazza, to produce the most current iterations of the risk register and the associated risk management plan for the Niagara tunnel project?


MR. PENNY:  I wonder, Mr. Chairman, if I might take that under advisement.  I would like the opportunity to think about that and confer.


My concerns are several.  One is that, as the evidence indicates and Mr. Mazza has indicated, none of the costs of the Niagara tunnel land in the test period.  So we are talking about something that we're not seeking any rate relief for.  


So these questions, in a way, are entirely hypothetical.  They may be issues in the future, they may not, depending on how the project turns out.


The second concern I have is that the issue of the slowdown in the progress of the project is -- as is clear, I think, from that risk appendix that Mr. Warren just referred to, is the subject of a contract, and there is a dispute mechanism in that contract, and there is active -- if you will, a dispute has been engaged, and we're very concerned about prejudicing our position by revealing information about the status of the project, because the issue of who is responsible for the delays is very much in play.


But if I might, I would like to confer, have the opportunity to confer with Mr. Barrett and Ms. Reuber before giving that undertaking.  But we could get back to Mr. Warren and the Board on that.


MR. KAISER:  Why don't we take the morning break and you discuss this with your client and come back and let us know what your position is?


MR. PENNY:  Thank you.  That's fine.


MR. KAISER:  Is that satisfactory, Mr. Warren?


MR. WARREN:  That's fine, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Twenty minutes.


--- Recess taken at 10:34 a.m. 


--- Upon resuming at 10:55 a.m. 


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.

Mr. Penny.

MR. PENNY:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Just two preliminary matters.
Procedural matters:


MR. PENNY:  One dealing with some outstanding undertakings, just so that the record shows that we have, today, filed and will send out, of course, in the usual way by e-mail to all intervenors, answers to undertakings J1.1, J1.2 and J1.4.

With respect to the issue that arose just before the break, there are two aspects to it.  It is OPG's position that the details of this particular project are -- and the particular issue around the potential for delay and its impact on cost are not relevant in this proceeding, because none of those costs land in the test period.  And it is also OPG's position that the disclosure of the particular document that was asked for just before the break, which was the updated risk register and so on, has the potential to be very prejudicial to OPG's position, because as I indicated, there is a very live issue between OPG and the contractor about who is responsible for this delay.

But I had the opportunity before the completion of the break to discuss the matter with Mr. Warren and -- Mr. Warren can speak for himself -- but as I understand it, what I said to Mr. Warren was that we have no objection at the issue of business planning and process, to the pursuing of the issue at a process level.  We are prepared to provide Mr. Warren with a template of what these risk registers look like.  It is just the particular facts of this particular case fall into the categories of the objections I outlined.

I understood that Mr. Warren was prepared to proceed on that basis, at least initially.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Warren.

MR. WARREN:  I think that is fine, sir.  I don't want to press the point, given what Mr. Penny has said about prejudice.

What I would like to do is try and relate these questions to issues about process and project management, and I will see how far I get.  I don't anticipate I will be all that long on this issue.

Panel, could I ask you to turn back to what we were talking about before, which is the attachment to Exhibit D1, tab 1, schedule 2.  This is the, again, the business case summary for the tunnel project.

I am going to ask you questions about the risk register and the risk management plan, not about these particular ones in light of what Mr. Penny has told us.

First of all, panel -– and I apologize for my confusion on this -- I want to go over some ground I have covered briefly before, because I don't understand it.

You said that a Mr. Crozzoli is the one who is responsible for management of the tunnel project; is that right?

MR. MAZZA:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Now, these risk registers and risk management plans in relation to Niagara, they're maintained -- they're reviewed how frequently and by whom?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. MAZZA:  In regard to risk register –-


MS. CAMPBELL:  Microphone, please.

MR. MAZZA:  Pardon?

With regard to risk registers, the risk registers are done for the big projects in the company, the new development projects.  There is a detailed risk register.  That's the template that Mr. Penny referred to.

Most of the capital projects on the operational side do not require, like, a risk register to that level of detail.  There is a risk assessment done as part of the business case, and we do monitor risks to a certain level.

MR. WARREN:  Maybe we could do this, panel.  Can you turn up attachment C to this exhibit?

I am picking this at random.  This is a total -- this is for the unit G9 upgrade at Sir Adam Beck Generating Station.  Do you see that?  This has a total capital expenditure of forecast of $30 million; correct?

MR. MAZZA:  Correct.

MR. WARREN:  Now, is there a risk register for this?

MR. MAZZA:  This project has not been approved yet.  This is a preliminary business case.

MR. WARREN:  For any of the attachments other than the first attachment, are there risk registers for any of these projects, do you know?

MR. MAZZA:  I am not aware of any risk registers for any of those projects.

MR. WARREN:  Then I am going to ask you for an undertaking to provide me with a specimen of a risk register.  Can I get that undertaking?

MR. PENNY:  Yes.  Well, as I indicated, we're certainly in a position to provide the template for the risk register.

Whether there is another one besides for the Niagara Tunnel or not, I guess we're not sure at this point.  But we definitely have a template and we're definitely in a position to provide you with that.

MR. WARREN:  Can I can ask, Mr. Penny, as part of that undertaking to provide a template of a risk management plan as well?  That's also referred to in the attachment.  Is that a separate document, a risk management plan?

MR. PENNY:  I would need some help from the witnesses on whether we can do that or not.

MR. MAZZA:  You're referring to the risk management plan referred to in the business case?

MR. WARREN:  Yes, on page 9 of 11, it says in the second bullet, there is:
"A risk register and associated risk management plan will be maintained throughout the project.  Execution to manage residual risks -–"

I want to know if there is a separate template for something called a risk management plan.  If so, can you provide it to me?

MR. PENNY:  I think what we can do on that front, for the second part, Mr. Warren, is enquire as to whether that is in template form and whether it is in a producible form, and if we have it, we will produce it, subject to, of course, reviewing it and determining some issue about that.  But if there's some -- if we do have it and there is some problem with producing it, obviously I will let you know that and we will have the opportunity to address it.

MR. BATTISTA:  This undertaking will be characterized as J2.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.3: TO enquire whether the risk management plan is available in template form and produce it, subject to review


MR. WARREN:  My final series of questions, panel, are process questions.

Now, once a project is approved, when a business case summary goes forward, there is -- am I right in understanding that for each of them, there is a project risk profile?  I am looking -- I take that term, folks, from appendix C to the business case summary for the tunnel project.  I am wanting to know if for every business case summary, if there is a project risk profile.  Do you know?

MR. SHEA:  For every project, there is a project risk table that is included in the business case summary.  That's for every project.

MR. WARREN:  Would there be a risk register and associated risk management plan for every project?

MR. SHEA:  Not necessarily.

MR. WARREN:  What causes there to be a risk register and a risk management plan for a project?

MR. SHEA:  Generally speaking, it's the materiality of the project.

MR. WARREN:  For all projects over $4 million, is there a risk register and risk management plan?

MR. SHEA:  I don't know the answer to that question.

MR. WARREN:  Do you know the answer, Mr. Mazza?

MR. MAZZA:  No, I do not.

MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me, Mr. Mazza, or Mr. Shea or Mr. Gagnon, for all projects in excess of $4 million, how are risks identified and managed and mitigated in projects?  Is there a formal process for each project?

MR. SHEA:  I can speak to it, in general terms.

As I mentioned just a moment ago, there is a project risk matrix that is included in the business case summary.  There is a project execution plan, where the risks are referenced back to the business case summary.  And there is ongoing review of those risks as the project progresses, and actions taken on an as-required basis.

MR. WARREN:  Would the review of the risks be part of your monthly review of costs?

MR. SHEA:  Yes, absolutely.

MR. WARREN:  Those are my questions.  Thank you, panel.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

Mr. Buonaguro.
Cross-examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

I of course will be asking questions on behalf of VECC, but Mr. DeVellis has also employed me for a few minutes today to ask some questions on his behalf.


I would like to start with some questions about labour costs, and to that end we have produced an exhibit.  Mr. Battista was kind enough to obtain copies for me.


If I can get an exhibit number?


MS. CAMPBELL:  The exhibit number is K2.1.  Mr. Battista will be handing it out.


MR. PENNY:  Yes, Mr. Chairman, I will just say this once, and then won't say it again, but with respect, of course, it is the practice of the Energy Board to assign exhibit numbers to documents of these kind for identification purposes, but until the witnesses accept the contents of these documents, in our view, it doesn't become "evidence" in the normal sense of the word.

EXHIBIT NO. K2.1:  DOCUMENTS PRODUCED BY MR. BUONAGURO.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.


Now, I would like to take the panel, the witness panel, to interrogatory L-16-15, an interrogatory from VECC.


MR. MAZZA:  Could you repeat that interrogatory number?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  It is L16, Interrogatory No. 15, schedule B.


Now, in the interrogatory, we noted that the numbers that appeared in your application with respect to Exhibit F1, tab 2, schedule 1, table 1 seemed to indicate that the average increase in labour costs per FTE were going up at a rate of about 6.6 percent per FTE per year.


In the response, OPG said that is true, except that if you excluded total pension costs and total other post-employment benefit costs from the basic numbers, that the average increase would be more in the realm of 3 to 4 percent.  Is that a fair summary of your interrogatory response?


MR. MAZZA:  That's a fair summary.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So we tried to figure that out on our own.  Using that information, we tried to recreate that in this table, which is now K2.1.


If you look at K2.1 -- and the exhibit has two pages.  One is for hydro and one is for nuclear.  I think we're only going to be talking about the hydro numbers today.


You can see that at total labour per FTE in the table, we have the numbers 100.8 million -- sorry, 108,000 for 2005, 113, 117, 123 and 130.  This is where we got the escalation of about 6.6 percent per year.


Then using Exhibits F1, tab 2, schedule 1, table 1, and F3, T4, schedule 1, chart 6, we identified the pension costs and the other post-employment benefits, or OPEB costs, and excluded them from the total costs, and then distributed them on a -- across FTEs to get average FTE costs, which is at the bottom of the table.  


There you can see that for 2005 we calculated $67,700, $53,300, $60,800, $72,000, and $80,600 across the period 2005 to 2009.


Have you had a chance to review what we did here and can you confirm its accuracy?


MR. MAZZA:  I have not had a chance to review this in detail.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Have we properly identified the exhibits where we would get those numbers?


MR. MAZZA:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Can we assume, for the purposes of our discussion, these are probably accurate and, if they're not, you can tell me later?


MR. PENNY:  Well, sorry.  Let's be clear about this.  Which precise lines are you asking the witnesses to agree are the accurate lines, because I don't think we're in a position to say that your calculations are accurate.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  How about our conclusion that if you exclude the pension, the total pension costs, which we pulled out of F3, T4, S1, chart 6, and if you exclude the other post-employment benefits, which we also pulled from F3, T4, S1, chart 6 from their total labour costs, and then spread them out over their reported FTEs, which we got from F1, T2, S1, table 1, that you get average total labour costs per FTE of 67 -- the last line of the table, 67, 53, 60, 72 and 80?


MR. MAZZA:  As I mentioned, I wasn't able to review the -- several of the line items that you got out of our labour costs.  The only thing I notice here, looking at this piece of new evidence, is that you referred to total labour at the top.  And it is really -- our evidence shows base labour.  That's the only thing I can sort of comment on at this moment.


MR. BUONAGURO:  What do you mean by that?


MR. MAZZA:  Base labour refers to the labour used on base work programs.  Some of the staff in the plant group also work on OM&A projects, and the project labour is not included in those two tables.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So you're saying this information excludes project labour, which is identified somewhere else?


MR. MAZZA:  It is an additional amount of labour that's not included in the base -- we have a base labour exhibit.  We don't have a project labour exhibit.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  For the purposes of determining your base labour costs per FTE, is there something wrong with the information I pulled?


MR. MAZZA:  The other thing I notice here is -- the total FTEs, that is accurate.  Those are the total FTEs, but that includes regular and non-regular FTEs.


There is another interrogatory that we supplied on that topic, L-1-40, which breaks out the regular FTEs and unregular FTEs.  So there has to be some analysis done on that to calculate the exact numbers.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Why is it important that those two numbers be broken apart?


MR. MAZZA:  Because some of the non-regular labour attracts different rates than the regular labour, than the regular FTEs.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Are you suggesting that -- well, let me tell you what we tried -- what we thought we concluded from this table, and maybe you could explain why separating those two figures would impact our analysis.


So if you see the last line of our table, where we see that from 2005 to 2006 there appeared to be a significant decrease in the average labour compensation, excluding pension benefits and other post-employment benefits, it went from 67,000 per FTE to 53,000 per FTE.


My question generally was if you were to able to explain what happened between 2005 to 2006 to explain that decrease in base labour cost per FTE.


MR. MAZZA:  As I mentioned, I haven't been able to validate those numbers.


I haven't -- I can't really comment on your conclusion.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Is it a surprise to you that if we do this type of analysis, we would get that kind of result?


MR. MAZZA:  Again, without a review of the numbers, I can't comment on that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Did you want to give an undertaking to review the numbers, and then, assuming that we're correct in our analysis, explain or try to explain why there was a significant decrease in the basic labour cost per FTE?


MR. PENNY:  Well, I think, Mr. Chairman, what we could reasonably undertake to do is -- because we only got this late in the afternoon yesterday and, frankly, were busy preparing with other things and didn't have the chance to review it.


So what I think we can undertake to do is to, with the benefit of more considered analysis, think through the type of analysis that's presented on this table and, if we've got additional concerns with it beyond those that Mr. Mazza has already outlined, we will identify those and we will do our best to -- and depending on what the outcome of that analysis is, if there is, then, if these numbers at the bottom line make any sense to us, we can then try and do our best to explain what the variability is the result of.  But until we establish whether these numbers are even meaningful numbers, I don't know that we would be in a position to comment on that.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Buonaguro, let's do that.  Let's come back to it on Monday.  But just so Mr. Penny has all of your questions, aside from an explanation as to why there is a drop in 2006 compared to 2005, do you have any other questions on this document?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  In addition, as I said and as we saw in the interrogatory response, there was the suggestion that the average increase on the base labour costs would be somewhere in the order of 3 to 4 percent per year.

Looking at our results from this analysis, if you look at the increases from 2007 to 2008, from 60.8 to 72.0 per FTE, the increase, I think, is approximately 18 percent in the cost per FTE.

Then in 2008 to 2009, it is approximately 11 percent, from 72,000 to 80.6 thousand.

So I wanted to understand why that is, as well, given that we have broken out the pension costs and the -- or excluded the pension costs and other post-employment benefit costs.

MR. KAISER:  Again, those questions with numbers --

MR. PENNY:  Yes.  I understand.  We will do our best to assess all years on K2.1.

MR. KAISER:  Were there any other questions on this, Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  No.  I mean I think you have the gist of it.  We're trying to understand what we perceive to be anomalies, given that there is a statement in the interrogatory response that the increases in basic labour costs were in the order of 3 to 4 percent, and I guess it is compounded by the fact there appears to be this huge decrease in 2006 that we don't understand what happened there.

So I think that series of questions going along with your analysis would be sufficient.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. BATTISTA:  That will be characterized as undertaking J2.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.4:  Assess numbers in Exhibit K2.1

MR. BUONAGURO:  I have a couple of questions specifically from Mr. DeVellis.

He cites exhibit L2-17, an interrogatory response.

MR. PENNY:  That's L2-17?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  In the response, you talk about the capital budget including $422.1 million for planned projects on hold in 2009.

He would like some more explanation of what that means.

MR. MAZZA:  I think that is referring to the nuclear piece of the evidence.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that something I should refer to the other panel?

MR. MAZZA:  I am not aware of any projects on hold on the hydroelectric piece that are (inaudible).

MR. PENNY:  That will be the nuclear project panel.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Then at interrogatory response L2-28, it says there you will not be updating your production forecasts for 2008 and 2009; correct?

MS. FRAIN:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And referring back to E1-1-1, page 2 of the prefiled evidence, it says that:
"There is an increasing uncertainty associated with predicting natural systems beyond a six-month period."

Then later on it says:
"Because of that uncertainty, forecasts for periods beyond two years assume that water availability trends back towards historic monthly medians."

Is that a good summary of what that evidence says?

MS. FRAIN:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you explain why the forecasts beyond two years use the monthly median?

MS. FRAIN:  If you follow on the same evidence, it says that:  
"This assumption reflects historical trends."

That's why we have tended to trend back to long-term mean.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, it seems that you do that because of the uncertainty related to forecasting beyond six months.

MS. FRAIN:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  How come you don't trend back to six months?  How come you don't start using that methodology after six months of forecasting?  Why do you start at the two-year period as opposed to the six-month period?

MS. FRAIN:  We do actually start trending back to the mean at the six-month point.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So this is Mr. DeVellis's understanding.  He thought that it said that you don't start doing that until past the two-year point, but you're saying no, in fact it is actually from the six-month point.

MS. FRAIN:  That is actually true, whereas after the two years, it would be reflecting what monthly means are actually.  Trending is in the 18 months, the actual long-term mean is after that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is there a difference between how you forecast month 7 to month 24, as opposed to month 25 and beyond?

MS. FRAIN:  In that period from 7 to 24, there is trending, reflecting what the first six months would be showing after the 24-month period.  Unless we have very extreme conditions, high or low, we would be using the monthly averages.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So those are two different ways of doing the forecast?

MS. FRAIN:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  His question is:  How come there's two different ways of doing the forecast, given that the uncertainty seems to arise after six months as opposed to 24?

MS. FRAIN:  We're trending back to that long-term mean in that first -- or that interim period between the six months and the 24.

The actual models we have are only considered accurate in that first six-month period, so we have to get back to the long-term mean before we accept just that as being the actual numbers in our forecast.  That is a very long period out for any water forecast.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am still struggling to understand why, what changes between six months and two years that changes the methodology for doing forecast.  Is it because you're starting from scratch?

MS. FRAIN:  We're building on the information we have.  If you take the models for the first six months, reflecting the current conditions and the expected change in those times, beyond the six months, we do start to trend back towards the long-term mean, given that we don't have any information to tell us anything different.  Beyond the two-year period, we would be accepting the long-term means because we don't have any information that would tell us whether it should be anything different than that.  Not necessarily a change in the way we do it.  It is just different steps in the process.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So when you come back in two years, for example, assuming there is no groundbreaking change in methodology, it will be the same thing, a six-month forecast, and then building up to the two years and then a change at the two-year point?

MS. FRAIN:  I would expect it would be similar.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

Mr. Stephenson.  
Cross-examination by Mr. Stephenson:


MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Panel, my name is Richard Stephenson.  I am counsel for the Power Workers' Union.

It is with some trepidation that I go back to Mr. Buonaguro's spreadsheet, but I am going to do that and see how far I can get.  I know this is subject to an undertaking, and it may well be that some of the issues that I address may well be things that you look at in the context of answering that undertaking.

One item that I wanted to see if I understood properly was the following.  As I understand the chart, the total labour line -- which is the top line on that item -- it is derived from a particular table which is located at F1, tab 2, schedule 1.


As I understand it, that document is dealing with the total labour at the Niagara plant group and at Saunders, but it doesn't include the corporate support function.  Am I correct there?


MR. MAZZA:  It is correct that initially it is not total labour.  It is base labour, and it doesn't include any of the corporate labour.


MR. STEPHENSON:  One of the things that would get you from base to total would be the corporate support function?


MR. MAZZA:  No.  It would be the fact that some of the labour within each plant, the plant group, works on OM&A projects and that labour would charge to the project.  That is not included in the top line.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay, but I had also understood that if we're looking at the total regulated assets, the total labour for the total regulated assets, there is also some corporate functions that are included in the total labour for all of the regulated assets.


Can you assist me?  Am I right or wrong?


MR. MAZZA:  Not in any of our exhibits.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Not in table 1, that's correct.  Okay, but let me go for a moment, and Mr. Buonaguro also relies on another document, which is chart 6 at F3, tab 4, schedule 1.


This is where he derives the pension and OPEB costs.


MR. MAZZA:  Chart 6?


MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.  I think that is at page 26, I believe.


MR. MAZZA:  Yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  As I look at this chart, as I understand it, this does include the corporate support functions for the regulated asset groups?


MR. MAZZA:  Yes.  As the note indicates, it does include.


MR. STEPHENSON:  So what struck me - and maybe you can help me here and you can deal with this in the undertaking, if necessary - is, we actually have an apples-to-oranges problem in Mr. Buonaguro's chart, because when we're talking about the -- for the purposes of the pension and OPEB costs, there is actually a different number of FTEs, because you are adding more FTEs than you are in dealing with his total labour line at the top of his chart.  Is that fair?


MR. MAZZA:  That's fair.  As was mentioned, we will review these numbers and details as part of the undertaking.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Maybe you can see if I am right about that particular item in the course of doing that exercise.  Thank you.


MR. PENNY:  Yes, we will add that to the undertaking.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Just, again, back on Mr. Buonaguro's chart for a moment, in terms of the total labour line that he has used from your chart, can you assist me?  Does that line include overtime?


MR. MAZZA:  Yes.  That would include overtime associated with base labour.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Does that -- and I take it, then, that for the future years, that includes a forecast of overtime in those years; is that fair?


MR. MAZZA:  That's fair.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Can you assist me?  Does that forecast, for the out years, 2008 and 2009, I mean, are you using a sort of a fairly constant number just as a bit of a plug, or does it actually reflect some specific expectations regarding specific work loads in those years such that it fluctuates significantly?


MR. MAZZA:  I don't have the details on that particular part of the labour rate.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Maybe I can get an undertaking on that.


MR. PENNY:  Yes.  Just so we're clear, the undertaking is?


MR. STEPHENSON:  It is for the overtime costs, in particular for 2008 and 2009.  As I understand it, they are forecast numbers.


MR. PENNY:  Yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  The question is whether it is, in a sense, sort of a plug forecast of a certain number based on a historical average or whether it is a fluctuating number, depending upon specific expectations regarding work loads.


MR. PENNY:  Yes.


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be characterized as undertaking J2.5.

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.5:  PROVIDE ANSWER AS TO WHETHER OVERTIMES COSTS FOR 2008 AND 2009 ARE BASED ON HISTORICAL AVERAGE OR FLUCTUATING NUMBER.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Just to follow up on that.  If it is the latter of those two possibilities - that is, it is a forecast based on specific expectations - I take it that it is entirely possible that because of those specific -- sorry, because of those specific expectations, there could be significant variability in that forecast, fair, if that is the basis of it?


MR. MAZZA:  If it is the basis.


MR. STEPHENSON:  To be fair, if there is significant differences in overtime, that can drive significant differences in compensation per FTE; correct?


MR. MAZZA:  It could drive some difference; true.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Without actually affecting the base compensation of any particular employee?


MR. MAZZA:  True.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I am going to be asking some questions of the corporate panel about some of the drivers reflecting the pressures on your compensation costs, but I did want to ask this panel some questions just to make sure that any of the generic information I am going to be getting from the corporate panel has some application to your business, as well, so if you could bear with me for a moment.


As I understand it, one of the drivers of compensation costs that you are dealing with is an issue about essentially an aging work force and the need to replace departing employees.


And my question I had:  Is that an issue that you in the hydraulic business face?


MR. MAZZA:  We face that issue.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Can you assist me?  I understood - and I may be wrong - that in the hydraulic business, your work force is actually -- on an average basis, I think, is actually older than on the nuclear side.  Do you know the answer to that?


MR. MAZZA:  I don't know the answer to that.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Again, another issue that I understand is sort of a macro issue that your business is facing generally, and I want to determine whether it is facing the hydraulic business specifically, is that there is actually a demand-supply imbalance in the labour market for the kinds of people you are needing to hire in the foreseeable future, in the sense that in the hydraulic industry, generally, including you, there is a greater demand for these types of skill sets than is generally available in the market at the present time?


MR. MAZZA:  Yes, I believe that is true.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I take it that that is a factor which impacts upon your expectations regarding what it is going to cost you to get your new staff to replace your departing staff; fair?


MR. MAZZA:  Fair.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Because the labour market, like everything else, is driven by some degree by demand and supply?


MR. MAZZA:  Fair.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I take it that your expectations regarding the pressures on your compensation costs go -- it is your expectation you are going to be facing this for a period of time.  This is not a one- or a two-year issue.  This is an issue that the company is going to be facing, in effect, for the foreseeable future; is that fair?


MR. MAZZA:  I can't comment on compensation costs.  The only issue I can comment on is that the business is replenish -- our business is replenishing its work force.  We are hiring trainees, apprentices from the external community.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Fair enough.  But from a planning perspective, you are not expecting the demographic pressure, if I can call it that, to end in a year or two.  This is going to be an ongoing challenge, from a business planning perspective, for your business; fair?


MR. MAZZA:  That's fair.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

Mr. Faye.
Cross-examination by Mr. Faye:

MR. FAYE:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  

Panel, my name is Peter Faye.  I am representing Energy Probe at the hearing.

I had a number of questions relating to the Niagara tunnel, but given Mr. Penny's comments on the sensitivity of some of this material, I will keep them to a project management level.  If I stray too far in the other direction, just let me know.

Energy Probe submitted an interrogatory on this.  I believe it is Interrogatory No. 3.  You will find that at exhibit L, tab 6, schedule 3.

MR. MAZZA:  Please repeat that interrogatory, sir?

MR. FAYE:  That would be Exhibit L, tab 6, schedule 3.

MR. MAZZA:  I have that interrogatory.

MR. FAYE:  Part B of that asked about the prospect of slower tunnel boring progress, and whether or not it was easy to distinguish the reasons for that.  We suggested a less capable tunnel boring machine or adverse conditions.  I don't want to get into what might be the subject of your dispute, but I wonder if you could just elaborate on the project management aspects of how you supervise the project to determine -- to gather the data necessary to address those kinds of conditions.

MR. MAZZA:  Well, there is a series of interrogatories that we answer that question, but in response to that, we have different levels of project management there.

We have, as mentioned in the business case, the director, the project director for the project, and with the assistance of our owner's rep, who is a specialist in tunnelling, the owner's rep is continuously on site monitoring the project and mapping conditions, as stated in the interrogatories.

Our project director attends weekly meetings with the owner's rep and the contractor, so there is a review there, as far as project oversight.

From there, we also have oversight, as I mentioned, at the executive vice president level of hydro development, who reports to the executive vice president of the hydro business.  So there is another level of oversight.  In fact, daily reports on tunnel progress go to the VP of the hydroelectric development business.

Furthermore, on a weekly basis, the executive committee of OPG -- which consists of the CEO and CFO and his direct reports -- get a report on the project, and that goes to the major projects committee of the board on a weekly basis.  So they are informed of tunnel progress.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  You have used the term, I think, "mapping the geology".  Could you explain how you map geology?  What does that entail?

MR. MAZZA:  Well, our owner's rep specializes in that.  I can't comment on how it is done because I am not a specialist, but the owner's rep has two geotechnical engineers that map the geology.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  If I could turn you to a document in the evidence that has been referred to, I believe, by one of the previous intervenors.  It's the business case summary.  I will give you an exhibit number here, if I can turn it up.  D1, tab 1, schedule 2, and it appears as an appendix to that.  The part I am going to refer to is an appendix to that schedule.

I am looking at appendix C, if you have that.

MR. MAZZA:  Could you please repeat the appendix?

MR. FAYE:  Later on, it says: "Business case summary, appendix C, Niagara tunnel project."

MR. MAZZA:  I have that appendix.

MR. FAYE:  Do you have that?  Okay.

I want to take an example, just the first set of boxes there on the project risk profile and the first one, this is actually "adverse subsurface conditions, risk parameter".  

Before mitigation, it is listed as being a high risk.  Then there is some mitigating activities and it becomes a medium risk.

In the context of actually encountering this kind of a problem, would you go back to your risk profile and update the risk chart?

MR. MAZZA:  Not being directly involved in the project, I am not sure of that.

MR. FAYE:  Is it a fair assumption that the risk profile chart has some bearing on how much contingency you would put in a project?

MR. MAZZA:  Yes.  Based on the original risks that were done, there was a contingency put in for that particular risk.

MR. FAYE:  And it would be sensible to conclude that the higher the risk profile overall, the higher the contingency for the project; would that be fair?

MR. MAZZA:  That's fair.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So I guess my question is, then:  If your risk profile changes, would it be sensible to re-evaluate the contingency and update your project estimate?

MR. MAZZA:  As I have already stated, there has been no reason for us to update the project estimate or anything related to that estimate.

The OPG cost is, as stated in the interrogatories that we have submitted, is still within the approved budget.

MR. FAYE:  I am asking more on a theoretical basis.  If the risk profile for a project did change substantially during the course of the project, would part of your project management be to go back, re-evaluate the budget for the project in the context of the new risks?

MR. MAZZA:  Yes.  As part of the routine process and project management, that is what we would do.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, thank you.  I want to move to just one other area.

It involves what you have referred to in the evidence as your segregated mode of operation on hydroelectric.  I believe the Saunders plant.

This discussion occurs at Exhibit G1, S1, page 6.  

MR. PENNY:  I think, Mr. Faye, the next panel is addressing the segregated mode specifically.  If you have questions on the technical aspects of it, then Mr. Shea may be in a position to assist you.  But if the questions are about anything to do with the financial effects, that those should be for the next panel.

MR. FAYE:  Thank you.  They're a mixed bunch of questions.  I will reserve the payment amount types for the next panel.

What I am interested in just discovering, just so I understand this segregated mode of operation.  Can you just briefly describe what that means?

MR. SHEA:  I am going to refer you to the evidence, the same reference you made:  G1, tab 1, schedule 1, on page 5.  You know, we have attempted to make that explanation starting on line 19, and so apart from regurgitating the text that is in the evidence, that's really the best description we have come up with, as far as what it is.

MR. FAYE:  So would I understand that to mean that somewhere outside that plant, there is a bunch of switches, and some of them connect to the IESO-controlled grid, and that would be your normal way of operating, and then there would be these other switches that discovery connect you from the IESO grid and connect you to something else?

MR. SHEA:  That is correct.  That is substantially correct, yes.

MR. FAYE:  I guess it is the "something else".  I understand that there is this grid of lines that are part of the transmission system connecting the Saunders plant.  What other lines are there that connect you to something else?


MR. SHEA:  The primary direction for SMO is to the province of Quebec.  So I think you could perhaps, at a high level, characterize it as a line directly into Quebec.


MR. FAYE:  So there is a dedicated circuit that goes over there that is not normally part of the transmission network?


MR. SHEA:  There is a line to Quebec where there is provision to separate off a number of generating units to generate directly into the Province of Quebec.


MR. FAYE:  What would be the voltage of that line?


MR. SHEA:  Oh, gosh.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. SHEA:  I am going to defer that -- I would like to defer that question to the next panel, because I believe Mr. Lacivita would know the answer to that question.


MR. FAYE:  Is a question about the capacity of the line also deferrable to the next panel?


MR. SHEA:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  Is a question about whether this line constitutes one of the interties with Quebec also for the next panel?


MR. SHEA:  That's correct, yes.


MR. FAYE:  All right, thank you.  That is all of my questions, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Faye.  Ms. Campbell, anything?

Cross-examination by Ms. Campbell:


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.  We have a handful of questions.  These relate to F-1, tab 2, schedule 1, which is the base OM&A regulated hydroelectric.


Specifically, my questions are going to deal with F1, tab 2 schedule 1, page 2, and also F1, tab 2, schedule 1, table 1.  There are just a handful of questions arising out of the updates that were filed.


I understand, from reading the update, that there has been a 9 percent increase in the base OM&A in the 2008 test year.  I understand that that's the result of hiring of new staff.  And if I look at the updated filing, the updated table 1, the F1, T2, S1, table 1, and I compare it to the November filing, I note we are up about ten FTEs.


I was wondering if someone could explain what necessitated the change of ten FTEs between November -- the November filing and the March filing, what the reason was for the change.  Can you put your microphone on, please?  Thank you.


MR. GAGNON:  Sorry.  In Niagara, there are plans to hire three additional staff in 2008.  One of those staff members is for public health and safety, and two are for emerging cyber security.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Emerging cyber security?


MR. GAGNON:  It's something that's coming down from NERC through the IESO.  It's regarding security around process control equipment.


MS. CAMPBELL:  I thought it was something to do with second life.  Okay.  All right, I thought that was very cutting-edge of you.  No?  All right.  


So that is cyber security, all right.  What I am trying to understand is why there is a ten FTE difference between the November 30th, 2007 filing -- planning for 2008 and it jumps by ten in the March update.  If you could just explain that to me?


MR. GAGNON:  Yes.  If you can turn to interrogatory L1-40, you will see a chart there for Niagara showing the non-regular FTEs.  There is also an increase of approximately six, rounded off.  We're planning to use some temporary staff to fill the void, because of the number of staff that are leaving through attrition.


We also have a little bit of a spike, as we have been having difficulty replacing staff as they leave.  So our -- we are getting a little more aggressive with our hiring practice, so we are attempting to hire -- forecast and hire ahead of people leaving, with the plan to trend back down to where we should be at the end of the year.


MS. CAMPBELL:  That decision was finalized between the first update and second update?


MR. GAGNON:  Correct.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay, thank you.  I would like to ask you a question now -- there is a hydroelectric organization chart which is F1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 3.  When I look at that chart, I have a question concerning the various support groups that are referred to on that.


For example, if I go over to the Niagara plant group, I have got "includes plant group support".  If I go to the middle underneath the Ottawa/St. Lawrence plant group, I have "common support".  If I go to the right, I have "hydroelectric central support", and included under "hydroelectric central support" is "business support and regulatory affairs".


I am just wondering if you could explain to me what the different supports are and why they're necessary.


MR. MAZZA:  I will first speak to the hydroelectric central support.


The support at the hydroelectric central level is required for two main reasons.  The first reason is we provide a due diligence function for the executive vice president of hydro.  So a lot of those groups provide that type of function and support to the EVP.


The second function is we provide expertise and specialist support to the plant groups, where that would deem to be more effective than putting that support directly at the plant or plant group level.


Those are the two main functions.  If you read the evidence, each group in itself has its own specialties, engineering being the biggest of the groups, where we have specialties in the various civil, mechanical and electrical and P&C areas that support the entire business.


Then when you look at the next layer, that is the plant group support that's explained, and that deals more with the local support and day-to-day operations of the particular plant group.  That type of support doesn't exist at the central level.  It is all done locally.  So each plant group is fairly autonomous, as explained in the evidence.  All of those functions are required to maintain, operate and invest in the plants.


Now, the Ottawa/St. Lawrence plant group has similar support to Niagara, similar functions, only -- the only difference being that the operations and maintenance and project management part is directly at the Saunders site, whereas the plant group management office, business support department and asset management departments are centrally supported out of the Ottawa/St. Lawrence plant group and they provide support to Saunders.


So that is a mix, because we have a plant group that has regulated and unregulated.


If you want to get into more specific detail on the plant group support, I can ask Mark to talk to -- Mr. Shea to talk to some of the local support.


MS. CAMPBELL:  No, I think you have satisfied us.  Thank you.


Just flipping the page, if I could go to page 5, I have another question that relates, again, to a change in numbers from November to March, and this has to do with production department, which on page 5 is 2.1.3, and I am looking at page -- at line 24.  It states:
"There are 111 staff supporting the functional requirements of the production department."  

In the November filing there are were only 103.  What's the reason for the update?  The additional eight in the four or five months since the first filing?

MR. GAGNON:  Yes.  If you will turn the page to section 2.1.5, line 24, there was also a reduction of eight in our project management department.

MS. CAMPBELL:  So they were transferred?

MR. GAGNON:  They were transferred from projects to production.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay, thank you.  Mr. Cincar has a question for you on the gross revenue charge.
Cross-examination by Mr. Cincar:

MR. CINCAR:  In F1, T4, S2, it discusses a $15.9 million increase in the GRC from 228.2 million to 244.1 million in 2009.

Is the only variable that drives any change the changes in production, or forecast production?

MS. FRAIN:  Could you repeat the section you were -- the numbers you were referring to, please?

MR. CINCAR:  Oh, on F1, tab 4, schedule 2, page 1, in "2009 plan versus 2008 plan".

MS. FRAIN:  Yes, I see it.

You are correct, that is a production-driven change.

MR. CINCAR:  Okay.  So that is the sole variable that drives any change from year to year, is production?

MS. FRAIN:  Yes.

MR. CINCAR:  Okay, thank you.  What happens in the hypothetical scenario where the 2009 forecast production doesn't increase as expected?  Say it's the same as it was in 2008.  What happens with that extra 15 million, I guess, that wasn't needed for the GRC?

MS. FRAIN:  For each year, the actual amounts are reconciled after the fact, so that we do actually pay on the production, not on the forecast amount.

MR. CINCAR:  Okay.  In this application, would you not be requesting the -- based on the forecast amount?

MS. FRAIN:  Correct.

MR. CINCAR:  So there would be, in that type of scenario, there would be extra $15.9 million, and that would not go to the Ministry of Finance?

MR. MAZZA:  There is a variance account for the differences on that, so it is dealt with in the variance account.

MR. CINCAR:  Okay, thank you.

And in F1, T4, S1, page 1, in the last paragraph, it says that the Ontario regulation 124-02 under the Electricity Act is in place for the period for January 1st, 2001 to December 31st, 2007.  I just want to clarify that given there is no update, that you understood there was an update to that regulation?

MR. MAZZA:  Can you please repeat the page where you were referencing?

MR. CINCAR:  F1, T4, S1, page 1, in the last paragraph.

MS. FRAIN:  What has happened in previous years is that we have received an indication through the year, what the ongoing rate will be.  The data has not changed.  We have not received something yet this year.

MR. CINCAR:  Okay.  I just came across an update to the regulation yesterday, that it has now been extended to December 31st, 2008 instead of 2007, as the application notes.

MR. MAZZA:  We were not aware of that.  That notice goes to our corporate tax folks.  They get the letter from the Ministry and then that is sent on to us, verifying the rate.  I believe we haven't received that yet, internally.

MS. FRAIN:  Correct.

MR. CINCAR:  Okay, that is regulation 92/08?

MR. MAZZA:  Yes.

MR. CINCAR:  One final question.  On the same page -– or I guess this is just a more general question.  Are the dollar amounts forecast for the GRC in the test years based on OPG's production, including or excluding upgraded hydro generating stations?

MS. FRAIN:  They're forecast on our expectation of what would be in for that year.  So if there are updates included in the production forecast, the GRC would also reflect that.

MR. CINCAR:  I want to understand, then, it says there is exemption by way of deduction in the calculation of the gross revenue for new, redeveloped or upgraded generating stations.

So if there is exemption, should that be deducted?

MR. MAZZA:  The exemption applies to any new runner upgrades that are done that meet a certain threshold, and they go through the ministry.  All of our units were upgraded and they predated the regulation, so none of them get that exemption.

MR. CINCAR:  Okay.  What is the threshold?

MR. MAZZA:  I believe the threshold -- without having the regulation in front of me -- is 2 percent, 2 percent increase in energy, and there is other requirements in addition to that.

MR. CINCAR:  Okay, thank you.  That's all of my questions.

MR. BATTISTA:  Would you please refer to Exhibit D1, tab 1, schedule 1, table 1?  And that's your capital expenditure summary.

And the other piece of information is really regulation 53/05, and if you go to section 6.4, the regulation, it says that:
"The Board shall ensure that OPG recovers capital and non-capital costs -–"

Et cetera.  And one condition is if the costs and financial commitments were within the project budgets approved for that purpose by the board of directors, before the board of directors -- before this Board made its first order under section 78.1, or another condition where if they weren't approved, but if those projects would have to be assessed by the Board in terms of their prudency, et cetera.

On table 1, three projects are identified.  It would be in terms of both historical costs, actuals, for 2005, 2006 and 2007, as well as the plan for 2008-2009.  Does condition 4.1 apply to any of the actuals or the planned amounts for 2008 and 2009?

MR. MAZZA:  Yes.  Condition 1 applies to the Niagara tunnel and the Sir Adam Beck unit number 7 conversion, which were approved by the OPG board, I believe.


MR. BATTISTA:  So it is your understanding that the board would accept these numbers both in terms of the actuals presented and the forecasted amounts, insofar as the forecasted amounts are what is actually experienced by the project once it's done, that if there is any overspending, then that overspending would have to be examined by the board?


MR. MAZZA:  That's my understanding.


MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.  Now, these projects, they're chunky amounts.  Are there a subset -- are these the complete projects on the hydroelectric side of the business, or are they sort of -- sort of summaries of what's going on, internally?


Like, do you control at this level or are there sub-projects within these total amounts?


MR. MAZZA:  Well, for the Niagara plant group there are some other projects in the capital list, other than the unit number 7 conversion I referred to, but they are not -- they are not part of the 4.1.


MR. BATTISTA:  So these amounts here, then, can really be broken out.  If our criteria is whether 4.1 is applicable, some projects there are and some there aren't?


MR. MAZZA:  Yes.  These projects can be broken out.


MR. BATTISTA:  That would be of assistance, if you're -- if what you're saying is that 4.1 is applying to some subsets of these and not others.


MR. PENNY:  Yes.  We can make available a schedule which shows those projects which OPG maintains are subject to section 6(2)4(1) of the regulation.


MR. BATTISTA:  It would be helpful, as long as the list -- you know, the itemized lists add up to the total hydro -- total hydroelectric budgets identified in 84 million for 2005, 179 for 2006, and the other totals, so we know things add up to the amounts being put forward in the application.


MR. PENNY:  We can reflect both the projects that we say are subject to subsection 4.1 and those that aren't.


MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.  Just as a heads-up, probably I will be asking this same question on the nuclear side and on the corporate side.


MR. PENNY:  Thank you for that heads-up.  We will be prepared to answer your question on that.


MR. RUPERT:  Can I broaden it out just a tad, Mr. Penny?  It's not for this panel, I appreciate, but while you are doing this, it strikes me it would be helpful as we go through the hearing to also do something sort of similar on subsection 6(2)5 and 6(2)6, which is the have to do with the acceptance by the Board of amounts as set out in OPG's most recently audited financial statements, which I guess is December 2007.  And it has all of these things.


It would be helpful if we could have one document that -- for each one of these numbered items, maybe you could just mark up a page of the financial statements, whatever is the easiest way, so we have in one place all of these numbers that are to be accepted by the board.  


It is not to say Mr. Battista's question was -- it's kind of on the same line and it would be useful early on to get that.


MR. PENNY:  We will endeavour to do that, Mr. Rupert.


MR. RUPERT:  Thank you.


MR. BATTISTA:  Perhaps we should give these an undertaking number.


MR. PENNY:  My suggestion would be that because they're -- at this point in time, I am not sure whether they will all fit together neatly or not, so why don't we give two undertakings.  One is with respect to --


MR. BATTISTA:  So the undertaking for the first set that I asked is J2.6.

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.6:  TO LIST CAPITAL EXPENDITURES (2005-2009) NOTING WHETHER THEY ARE SUBJECT TO REGULATION 53/05, 6(2)4(I)

MR. BATTISTA:  And the one from Mr. Rupert is J2.7.

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.7:  TO IDENTIFY ASSETS, LIABILITIES, REVENUES, COSTS AND OTHER ITEMS SET OUT IN opg'S 2007 FINIANCIAL STATEMENTS THAT ARE REFERRED TO IN sECTION 6(2)5 AND 6(2)6 OF rEGULATION 53/05

MR. PENNY:  Thank you.


MR. BATTISTA:  That's it for my questions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


Any re-examination, Mr. Penny?


MR. PENNY:  No, Mr. Chairman.  I have none.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

Questions from the Board:


MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, I have a question.  Can you turn to the project summary statement for the Sir Adam Beck 1 generating station, unit G9 upgrade?  I think Mr. Warren took you to this.  It's Exhibit D1, tab 1, schedule 2, I guess, attachment C.


Do you have that?


MR. GAGNON:  We have that.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Perhaps you can correct me if I'm wrong, but did I hear you or understand you correctly when you -- he asked you a question about this, and I think you responded this project wasn't approved yet.  What did you mean by that; or am I correct, and, if I am, what did you mean by that?


MR. MAZZA:  The unit number 9 upgrade has not been approved.  The business case has not been prepared.  It is under preparation, and the threshold level here will be going to our board.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  But am I correct this project is forecast to be in service in 2009?


MR. GAGNON:  No, 2010.


MR. KAISER:  It has a start date of January 2008.


MR. GAGNON:  You will there see there is dollars into future plan. 


MS. CHAPLIN:  I guess I am going by -- it says in-service date December 2009.  Also, earlier in the evidence, on the table of all of these projects, which of course I now cannot find -- you're saying it not in service in the test period, because I believe there is other evidence elsewhere in the prefiled which suggests that it is in service in the test year.


MR. GAGNON:  This project is about three months behind schedule, so it will be -- this is recent developments.  It will most likely be coming into service in 2010.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Are there any other projects which, on your -- at least on your filed evidence, indicates an in-service date within the test period that are now revised to a later in-service date?


MR. GAGNON:  Not within the test period.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  All right, thank you.  That's all I have for now.


Actually, sorry, I have actually found the reference.  I will ask you a further follow-up.  I am looking at Exhibit D1, tab 1, schedule 2, table 1, which is the projects -- which are the projects.  There's a series of tables, projects over 10 million, projects between 5 and 10 million, and projects under 5 million.


So, for example, on the first table, you have now explained that the G9 upgrade has been postponed.  So, for example, the G7 frequency conversion, has that project received approval?


MR. GAGNON:  Yes.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes, okay.


The same conclusion for the rehabilitating the canal lining?


MR. GAGNON:  That has not been approved yet.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  But is it sort of your view that that is not relevant, because the in-service date is beyond the test period?  Is that your conclusion?


MR. GAGNON:  Correct.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  The Saunders HVAC system replacement, has that been approved?


MR. SHEA:  Yes, it has been approved.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.


MR. KAISER:  Anything further, Mr. Penny?


MR. PENNY:  No, thank you, Mr. Chairman.


MR. KAISER:  That completes this panel.  We will be back at one o'clock with your next panel on Monday?


MS. CAMPBELL:  On Monday?  I think, Mr. Chair, Mr. Penny was assuming that he would start this afternoon.  So it is one o'clock on Monday for panel 3?  And, Mr. Chair, I believe that Mr. Thompson had indicated that he might have questions for panel 2 and there was some discussion concerning Mr. Thompson, anticipating panel 2 would carry over to Monday.


MR. KAISER:  Is it possible -- I know there is an overlap between these two panels.  I think there is one person that is not in common, if I remember.


MR. PENNY:  Well, there are two, in fact.  Sorry, it is three.  Ms. Frain is staying for the revenues portion, but the others are departing.  Mr. Shea comes, of course, from a considerable distance away, so it was not our expectation -- Mr. Thompson did not convey that to me, and it was not our expectation that these members of the panel would have to come back.


MR. KAISER:  I think you are right.  I think he recognized that he couldn't be here today and he might miss them, but he did want to -- he did have questions for your third panel, and that is the reason why we would prefer to start on Monday, if that is acceptable to you.


MR. PENNY:  We're ready to go, but if it is the Board's wish to put that over to Monday, then that is what we will do, of course.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 12:15 p.m. 
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